

FEDERAL MEDIATION AND CONCILIATION SERVICE

In the Matter of Arbitration:

**U.S. DEPARTMENT of HOUSING
and URBAN DEVELOPMENT**

and

**AMERICAN FEDERATION of GOVERNMENT
EMPLOYEES, AFL-CIO**

FMCS No: 03-07743

OPINION AND AWARD: Dr. Andrée Y. McKissick, ARBITRATOR

APPEARANCES:

For Management: Walter C. Vick Jr., Labor Relations Specialist
Joann T. Robinson, Esquire
U.S. Dept. of Housing & Urban Development
451 7th Street, SW, Room 2150
Washington, D.C. 20410

For Union: Michael Snider, Esquire
Ari Taragin, Esquire
Snider & Associates
104 Church Lane, Suite 100
Baltimore, MD 21208

Carolyn Federoff, Esquire, Former President
AFGE Council 222
108 Ashlaud Street
Melrose, MA 02176

DATES AND PLACE OF HEARING: **July 15, 2008 and August 28, 2008**
U.S. Dept. of Housing and Urban Development
451 7th Street, SW, Room 2150
Washington, D.C. 20410

POST-HEARING BRIEFS: **December 1, 2008**

PROCEDURAL POSTURE

The Union filed this grievance on November 13, 2002. The Agency denied this grievance based upon its position that it was not arbitrable pursuant to § 7121 (c) (5) of the Federal Service Labor Management Statute. Subsequently, this grievance was submitted to arbitration on the sole issue of arbitrability. At that juncture, this Arbitrator found that the subject matter of this grievance, based upon the failure to treat employees fairly and equitably, to be arbitrable on June 23, 2003.

The Agency filed exceptions to this Award the same day. The Federal Labor Relations Authority (FLRA) remanded the Award to the parties and ordered that it be resubmitted to this Arbitrator for clarification of the jurisdictional issue on February 11, 2004. The Union's request for a hearing was granted. It was held on June 23, 2006, where additional evidence and arguments were made. On June 24, 2007, this Arbitrator clarified the Award on remand. This Arbitrator found that this grievance was arbitrable, as the grievance was based upon the right to be placed in previously classified positions. In addition, this Arbitrator ruled that there were several possible remedies pursuant to Section 22.11 of the Agreement, consistent with the FLRA's decision.

The record further reflects that on March 1, 2007, the Agency filed exception to the January 24, 2007 Award. On March 22, 2007, the Union filed an Opposition to the Agency's Exceptions. Subsequently, the FLRA issued a Show Cause Order as to why the Agency's Exceptions should not be dismissed as untimely. Thereupon, the FLRA ruled that the Exceptions were untimely and dismissed them on August 3, 2007.

The Union then filed a Motion to Compel the Production of Documents on March 14, 2007, explaining the history of its request for documents commencing from October 2002. This

information request was based on 5 USC 7114, drafted by Carolyn Federoff, Esquire and then President of Council 222. The record reflects that the documents requested for the purpose of amending the grievance were not forthcoming. Instead, the Agency denied the grievance, as stated earlier, based on its position that this grievance was not arbitrable. Based upon the Motion to Compel, this Arbitrator ruled that the Agency must comply with the request for information immediately, but no later than "June 30, 2008". Since the information requested was still not forthcoming, this Arbitrator ruled that an adverse inference can be made based upon the unreleased information. The record further reflects that some documents were later released, but the information was largely insufficient. Based upon the foregoing, this current arbitration hearing was held on July 15, 2008 and continued on August 28, 2008.

STIPULATED ISSUES:

- 1. Whether the Agency violated the Collective Bargaining Agreement, Law Rule, or other regulation when it failed to treat bargaining unit employees fairly and equitably in posting vacancy announcement from May 2002 until the present?**

- 2. If so, what are the appropriate remedies?**

RELEVANT PROVISIONS

The central controversy of this grievance lies within the applicability of the contractual provisions of the Agreement between the U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development and the American Federation of Government Employees (AFL-CIO) (CBA - Joint Exhibit I), effective 1998 thru present.

**COLLECTIVE BARGAINING AGREEMENT
(CBA - Joint Exhibit I)**

ARTICLE 4-EMPLOYEE RIGHTS/STANDARDS OF CONDUCT

Section 4.01- General. Employees have the right to direct and to pursue their private lives consistent with the standards of conduct, as clarified by this Article, without interference, coercion or discrimination by Management. Employees shall be treated fairly and equitably in the administration of this Agreement and in policies and practices concerning conditions of employment, and may grieve any matter relating to employment.

Section 4.06- Morale. Recognizing that productivity is enhanced when their morale is high, managers, supervisors, and employees shall endeavor to treat one another with the utmost respect and dignity, notwithstanding the type of work or grade of jobs held.

ARTICLE 9-POSITION CLASSIFICATION

Section 9.01- General. Classification standards shall be applied fairly and equitably to all positions. Each position covered by this Agreement that is established or changed must be accurately described, in writing, and classified as to the proper title, series, and grade and so certified by an appropriate Management official. A positions description does not list every duty an employee may be assigned but reflects those duties which are series and grade controlling. The phrase "other duties as assigned" shall not be used as the basis for the assignment to employees of duties unrelated to the principal duties of their position, except on an infrequent basis and only under circumstances in which such assignments can be justified as reasonable.

Section 9.05- Resolution of Discrepancies. Employees shall be encouraged to discuss any position description change or inaccuracy with the supervisor, who shall also maintain a continuing view of duties. Disputes involving the qualitative or quantitative value of tasks performed by the employees which affect the grading of a job may be appealed to the Department and /or other appropriate authorities. This does not preclude the filing of a grievance where the loss of a grade is involved. The following issues may be appealed through the Grievance Procedure, Article 22:

1. Accuracy of the Official Position Description including the inclusion or exclusion of a major duty.
2. An assignment or detail out of the scope of normally performed duties outlined in the Official Position Description.
3. The accuracy, consistency, or use of agency supplemental classification guides.
4. The title of the position unless a specific title is authorized in a published Office or Personnel Management classification standard or guide, or title reflects a qualification requirement or authorized area of specialization.

ARTICLE 13- MERIT PROMOTION AND INTERNAL PLACEMENT

Section 13.01- General. This Article sets forth the merit promotion and internal placement policy and procedures to be followed in staffing positions within the bargaining unit. The parties agree that the provisions of this Article shall be administered by the parties to ensure that employees are with valid job-related criteria. Management agrees that it is desirable to develop or utilize programs that facilitate the career development of the Department's employees. To that end, Management shall consider filling positions from within the Department and developing bridge and/ or upward mobility positions, where feasible, to help promote the internal advancement of employees.

ARTICLE 22- GRIEVANCE PROCEDURES

Section 22.01- Definition and Scope. This Article constitutes the sole and exclusive procedure for the resolution of grievances by employees of the bargaining unit and between the parties. This grievance procedure replaces Management's administrative procedure for employees in the bargaining unit only to the extent of those matters which are grievable and arbitrable under this negotiated Agreement. A grievance means any complaint by:

1. Any employee concerning any matter relation to his/her employment; or
2. The Union concerning any matter relating to the employment of any employee; or
3. Any employee, the Union, or Management concerning:
 - a. The effects or interpretation, or claim of breach, of this collective bargaining agreement; or
 - b. Any claimed violation, misinterpretation, or misapplication of any law, rule, or regulation affecting conditions of employment.

Section 22.02- Statutory Appeals. Adverse actions consist of:

1. Reduction in grade or removal for unacceptable performance;
2. Removals for misconduct;
3. Suspensions for more than fourteen (14) days; and
4. Furloughs for thirty (30) days or less.

Adverse actions may, in the discretion of the aggrieved employee, be raised under either:

1. The appropriate statutory procedures; or

2. Under the negotiated grievance procedure, but not both.

ARTICLE 3- RIGHTS AND OBLIGATIONS OF THE PARTIES

Section 3.06- Managements Rights. Nothing in this Agreement shall affect the authority of Management:

1. To determine the mission, budget, organization, number of employees, and internal security practices of the agency; and
2. In accordance with applicable laws and its duty to bargain on such matters, to the extent provided by law:
 - a. To hire, assign, direct, lay off, and retain employees in the agency; or to suspend, remove, reduce, in grade or pay; or take other disciplinary action against such employees;
 - b. To assign work, to make determinations with respect to contracting out and to determine the personnel by which agency operations shall be conducted;
 - c. With respect to the filling of positions, to make selections for appointments from:
 - i. Among properly ranked and certified candidates for promotion; or
 - ii. Any other appropriate source.
 - d. To take whatever actions may be necessary to carry out the agency mission during emergencies.

POSITIONS OF THE PARTIES

It is the position of the Agency that the grievance is in contravention of federal regulations as well as the collective bargaining agreement because it pertains to classification issues which did not result in the reduction in grade or pay of any employees.

Specifically, the Agency maintains that only the Office of Personnel Management (OPM) has the authority to classify or reclassify positions, after consultation with the Agency. The

Agency asserts that Article 13.03 (9) sets forth three modes for non-competitive promotions. Although the Union would argue that (b) of Article 13.03 (9) is applicable, the Agency retorts that the Union did not show that the Grievants performed work at a higher grade or that such higher graded work even existed at that time.

The Agency asserts that the grievance, dated November 13, 2002, lists six (6) job series and eighteen (18) vacancy announcements. However since that time, the Agency asserts that the grievance has exponentially expanded to include many more Grievants. The Agency also contends that the grievance was never amended to include these alleged additional violations, as it promised to do. Most importantly, the Agency points out that the Union never requested the sixteen (16) announcements. Thus, the Agency argues these announcements are not subject to negative inferences, as the Union urges. The Agency admits that four (4) of the announcements requested by the Union, that had a series of six (6) sequential even numbers, were among the documents that the Agency could not locate. However, the Agency notes that these announcements were for intern positions only, based on the numerical sequence.

The Agency stringently argues that the positions of the grieving parties were not the same as those positions listed in the 2002 vacancy announcements on the date of the grievance. That is, the Agency argues that the Union failed to show that the positions were identical in every way to the current duties, responsibilities, job descriptions, experience requirements, general qualifications, education, and level of responsibilities. Thus, the Agency reasons that the Union failed to establish its prima facie case. In addition, the Agency further asserts no substantive evidence was presented such as: classification studies, desk audits, or copies of the job announcement listed in the grievance.

Moreover , the Agency further points out that there are but four (4) areas, outlined in Article 9.05, which are classification-related issues that are grievable. However, the Agency notes that the grievance does not fall within the ambit of these delineated categories of Article 9.05 of the Agreement.

The Agency contends that promoting Grievants or increasing their non-competitive promotion potential would constitute a violation of 5 USC § 7106 (c) (5) as well as Article 3.06 of the Agreement, as both interfere with Management's right to determine the numbers, types, and grades of employees or positions within its organizational subdivisions.

In response to the remedy of retroactive promotion with back pay and interest suggested by the Union, the Agency counters that if the Arbitrator decides to sustain this grievance that a desk audit is the appropriate remedy. That is, the Agency argues that any more relief would be windfall for the Union, and would be punitive. The Agency further argues that no unwarranted personnel action has occurred here, a prerequisite for both back pay as well as attorney's fees, as the Union urges.

Lastly, the Agency points out that the Union's proposed remedy would award Grade 13 promotions without a showing that (1) the individual performed, or would perform, Grade 13 work; (2) the individual could perform Grade 13 work; or (3) there was any Grade 13 work at the individuals location. Based on all of the above, the Agency requests that the Arbitrator deny this grievance in its entirety, as the Union failed to meet its burden of proof.

On the other hand, it is the Union's position that the Agency had advertised a number of positions with a maximum grade potential of GS-13. However, in contrast, current employees who occupied these exact same positions had, and have, only a maximum potential to the GS-12 level. Specifically, the Union asserts that the Agency would hire someone at the entry level (GS-

7, 9, or 11). Subsequently, these new employees were trained and mentored by other existing employees in the same position. Nonetheless, the Union maintains that these employees who trained and mentored only had career ladder potential to the GS-12 level. However, the Union asserts that the new trainees would eventually become GS-13 employees.

In addition, the Union contends that although there were postings both internally and externally for vacancies, the internal announcements were subsequently cancelled. Thus, the Union argues that the current employees were discouraged from applying. The Union also alleges that current employees were told that their applications would be thrown out. Other current employees, the Union alleges, were told they were ineligible to apply for vacancies, but were told to train and mentor new trainees who “leapfrogged” them to become GS-13 journeyman level employees.

Another example the Union points out as being exemplary of inequitable and unfair treatment was when a vacancy announcement required that a current employee take a constructive demotion to GS-7 level with maximum career ladder potential to GS-13 level.

Still another example, the Union contends was demonstrative of unfair treatment was when a current employee was told that she was not selected for a position because she was retirement-eligible, yet she trained the actual selectees. Based upon the foregoing, the Union asserts that Articles 4.01, 4.06, 9.01, and 13.01 of the Agreement were violated.

In response to the Agency’s argument regarding the Union’s omission to amend this grievance, the Union counters that the Agency never presented the necessary documents that it needed to amend the grievance.

In response to the Agency’s argument that the missing announcements dealt exclusively with the intern positions, the Union rebuts that is an untruthful assessment of the situation.

In addition, the Union reminds the Arbitrator of her prior adverse inference regarding the missing documents as it relates to the Union's Motion to Compel the Production of Documents on March 14, 2007. Based on the foregoing, the Union requests that this Arbitrator sustain this grievance.

In regards to the appropriate remedy, the Union offers the Arbitrator multiple creative options. However, the Union strongly asserts its right to be compensated by retroactive promotions with back pay and interest. The Union also concurrently requests that the Arbitrator retains jurisdiction in this matter.

FINDINGS AND DISCUSSION

After careful review of the record in its entirety and having had the opportunity to weigh and evaluate the testimony of witnesses, this Arbitrator finds that this grievance should be sustained for the following reasons.

First, in response to the Union's request for a specific adverse inference regarding the numbered series vacancy announcements that were not provided to the Union, case law is replete with poignant instances of spoliation. That is, the failure to preserve property for the other party's use "as evidence in pending or reasonable foreseeable litigation." (See Zubulake ag. UBS Warburg, LLC, 229 FRD 422, July 20, 2004) Clearly, there is a right to an adverse inference because there is duty to preserve and protect pertinent and relevant documents, as here. It is important to note that there does not have to be a showing of willful or intentional conduct for this inference to be made. That is, mere ordinary negligence is sufficient for this doctrine to be viable, as here. (See "Adverse Inference Spreadsheet", U-1)

In response to the Agency's argument that the missing announcements were for intern positions only, this apparently means that such positions were temporary as opposed to being career conditional. Thus, intern positions simply do not have promotion potential to the GS-13 level, even if converted such positions are prohibited from going higher than GS-12. However, evidence presented by the Union was incongruent with the Agency's assessment. (See U-7(G) and U-3) Such evidence was exemplary of a marked-up numbered vacancy announcement and a full-time permanent position, only open at GS-7 level with promotion potential to the GS-13 level. Again, this Arbitrator has right to an adverse inference that the missing documents would have been unfavorable to the possessor of these germane documents, the Agency.

Second, in response to the Agency's argument that the Union failed to amend this grievance, it is well established that the exclusive representative is entitled to necessary information to enable one to effectively carry out one's representational duties. These duties include the acquisition of information which will assist in the "investigation, evaluation, and processing of a grievance." (See U.S. Department of the Navy, Portsmouth Naval Shipyard, Portsmouth, New Hampshire, 37 FLRA 515 (1990); also see National Park Service, National Capital Region, U.S. Park Service and Police Association of the District of Columbia, 38 FLRA 1037, December 18, 1990).

Applying this case law to this grievance, the requested documents were necessary for the Union to amend the grievance. However, such necessary and pertinent materials were not forthcoming. Thus, the Union was unable to amend this grievance due to the Agency's omission to furnish such needed materials.

Third, in response to the request for an adverse inference regarding the absence of Agency's witnesses, it is well recognized that the failure of one party to call sufficient witnesses

to rebut the other party's case allows this Arbitrator to make an adverse ruling. (See Internal Revenue Service, Philadelphia Center and National Treasury Employees Union, 54 FLRA 674, July 31, 1998; Bureau of Engraving and Printing and Lodge 2135, International Association of Machinists and Aerospace, Workers, 28 FLRA 796, August 31, 1987).

Applying this case law to this grievance, the Agency only presented one witness. That is, the Agency did not present the persons who posted the vacancy announcements nor any supervisor in the various divisions to rebut the plethora of Union witnesses' testimony. Thus, the record reflects that evidence presented by the Union was largely unrebutted. Specifically, the Agency failed to present evidence via witnesses to rebut the Union's GS-12 witnesses' testimony that they performed the same work as the GS-13 employees and they trained employees who subsequently leapfrogged them to the GS-13 level. Still further, the Agency failed to present witnesses to rebut that they were told by their supervisors that their applications to various positions would be destroyed, or not considered, and they should not apply.

Fourth, this Arbitrator was persuaded by the testimonies of the following witnesses: Bonnie Lovorn, Public Housing Revitalization Specialist, GS-12, Lynn Schonert, Public Housing Revitalization Specialist, GS-12, Monica Randolph-Brown, Public Housing Revitalization Specialist in the Public and Indian Housing Office, Victoria Reese Brown, Public Housing Revitalization Specialist, and Melanie Hertel, Contractor Industrial Relations Specialist in the Office of Labor Relations.

Specialist Lovorn, GS-12, testified that she applied for both the internal and external announcement for a GS-13 but was not selected. Nonetheless, she testified that she performed the same identical work as the GS-13, selectee, Gloria Smith. [TR-72-74]

Specialist Schonert, GS-12, testified that she applied for two internal vacancy positions in 2002, as a Facilities Management Specialist as well as a Financial Analyst. Although these vacancy announcements were posted internally and externally, she was not selected for either position. Specialist Schonert was told by her supervisor that it was in the best interest of the Agency to make external selections to promote growth in the Agency. [TR-177-181]

Specialist Randolph-Brown, GS-12, now retired, testified that she applied for a GS-13 level position in 2002, but was not selected because she was retirement-eligible. However, she trained the actual selectees. Interestingly, Randolph-Brown testified that at the time of her retirement there were other employees who were GS-13 except for her. However, she also added that she was fully qualified for the positions and had already performed the higher graded work as well as received fully successful performance appraisals. [TR-199-204]

Specialist Reese Brown, GS-12, also President of Local 3980, testified that the Agency posted a vacancy announcement for a GS-7 Financial Analyst position, yet the same announcement had a promotion to GS-13 level for three (3) or four (4) other offices, but with identical duties. (See U-7(G) and TR-213-14) Specifically, on the handwritten notation on the vacancy announcement indicated that a constructive demotion was necessary, from a GS-7 level with the maximum career ladder potential to GS-13 level. This assessment was confirmed by Administrative Officer Whitehouse.

Specialist Hertel, GS-13, testified that the Agency posted her same position with a promotion potential to GS-13 level, but she was maxed out at GS-12 at that juncture. However, she further testified that she was discouraged from applying, as her Supervisor Herald stated that new external recruits were needed. Thus, Specialist Hertel did not apply because she believed

that her application would not be considered. [TR-227-232] This Arbitrator credits this testimony of the above witnesses on these issues.

Fifth, the Agency's sole witness, Specialist Lyman, a Supervisor in Human Resources, but who was a Position Classification Specialist for approximately thirty (30) years, made several admissions of irregularities by the Agency.

Specifically , when asked on cross-examination about dual postings of internal and external vacancy announcements and an internal cancellation, he responded as follows:

“It would seem to go against [this] simultaneous consideration clause.”

[TR-99]

Still further, he explains what he means regarding the “simultaneous consideration” in direct examination as follows:

“If you're advertising externally to HUD, you also do an ad internal to HUD to permit you know, HUD staff...to apply.”

[TR-19]

Moreover, he testified that such contravention, the cancellation of an internal advertisement, was “bizarre”. [TR-99]

Another example of Specialist Lyman's admission is when posed with still another hypothetical question regarding a vacancy with two different growth potentials. He responded on cross-examination that he would not do such a thing. [TR-104-105]

When questioned about the process of constructive demotion, where a position which is only available at GS-7 level but later expands to a GS-13 level, Specialist Lyman responded that this arrangement was “odd”. [TR-109] He further added the following:

“Because many HUD employees who are GS-12’s would obviously not be interested in applying even though the job...grew to 13.”

[TR-109] also see [TR-115]

Based on the foregoing, Specialist Lyman admitted that such irregularities would be violative of the Agreement.

Accordingly, this Arbitrator finds that the Agency violated Article 4, Sections 4.01 and 4.06 as these Grievants were unfairly treated and were unjustly discriminated against, as delineated above. In addition, this Arbitrator finds that the Agency violated Article 9, Section 9.01, as classification standards were not fairly and equitably applied. Lastly, this Arbitrator finds that the Agency also violated Article 13, Section 13.01, as it sought to hire external applicants, instead of promoting and facilitating the career development of internal employees.


Sixth, in response to the Agency’s argument that this grievance is precluded from coverage because there is no reduction in the grade or pay of any employee, this Arbitrator disagrees. The evidence supports the Union’s case that the Grievants were: (1) not considered for selections; (2) dissuaded from applying; (3) external applicants were given priority over internal employees; (4) GS-12 journeyman employees must train, tutor, and perform the same work as GS-13 journeyman employees in the same position. Thus, but for these inequitable and unfair situations delineated above, these affected positions should have been promoted to the journeyman level to GS-13 retroactively to 2002. The basis for this organizational upgrade is because the Agency failed to follow the procedures set forth the Agreement which

correspondingly resulted in the loss of pay, had these Grievants been promoted to the GS-13 level at the time of this occurrence.

Seventh, in response to what is an appropriate remedy, it would seem to this Arbitrator that an organizational upgrade of affected positions by upgrading the journeyman level for all the subject positions to GS-13 level retroactively to 2002 is the fair and equitable solution. Pursuant to the Agreement, an Agency supervisor would have the final determination as to whether the affected employee has performed the duties of one's position satisfactorily.

AWARD

Accordingly, this Arbitrator finds that the Agency violated Article 4, Section 4.01 and 4.06, Article 9, Section 9.01, and Article 13, Section 13.01 for the aforementioned reasons. The appropriate remedy is an organizational upgrade of affected positions by upgrading the journeyman level for all the subject positions to GS-13 level retroactively from 2002. Pursuant to the Agreement, a supervisor would have the final determination as to whether the affected employees have performed the duties of one's position satisfactorily. In addition, this Arbitrator shall maintain jurisdiction of this matter for implementation of this Award



ARBITRATOR

DATE OF AWARD: September 29, 2009